
DATE:  April 18th, 2023 
TIME:   6:00 PM  

JOIN ONLINE VIA ZOOM:  https://bit.ly/3xlFY9B 

Meeting ID:  976 1525 3648  
Passcode:  894903  
Dial by Location:  (253) 215 - 8782 

For inquiries and/or assistance regarding how to use the City’s online meeting format 
please email clerk@carnationwa.gov, or call (425) 333-4192 

1. CALL TO ORDER: Mayor Jim Ribail 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Councilmember Dustin Green 

3. ROLL CALL: City Clerk Lora Wilmes 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA: Mayor and Council  

5. EXECUTIVE SESSION:

6. CONSENT AGENDA:

a) Approval of Minutes for the following date(s):

i. Regular Session: April 4th, 2023

b) Approval of Claims in the following amount(s):

i. Batch #1 - $86,499.99

ii. Batch #2 - $10,246.80

iii. Batch #3 - $1,298.15

iv. Batch #4 - $77,306.50

7. COUNCIL REPORTS AND REQUESTS

8. STAFF REPORTS:

a) Community Economic Development Department Report - CED Principal

Rhonda Ender

CARNATION CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
Regular Meeting  

Mayor Jim Ribail, Deputy Mayor Tim Harris, Ryan Burrell, Dustin Green, Adair Hawkins 

1

(p. 3)

(p. 37)
(p. 38)

(p. 39)
(p. 40)

https://bit.ly/3xlFY9B


April 18th, 2023 

– 2 –

b) Capital Improvement Projects / Administrative Services Department Report -

Administrative Services Manager Lora Wilmes

c) City Manager’s Office Report - City Manager Ana Cortez

d) Sheriff’s Office Quarter 1 Report - King County Sheriff’s Deputy Bruce

Matthews

PUBLIC HEARING: 
The proposed definition (which has already been updated in the current edition 
of the Carnation Street and Storm Sewer Standards) is as follows:  

"Alley" is a public or private way, at the rear or side of property, permanently 
reserved as a means of vehicular or pedestrian access to a property.  

The prior definition: 
"Alley" means a public highway not designed for general travel and used primarily 

as a means of access to the rear of residences and business establishments.

9.  PUBLIC COMMENT & REQUESTS: Public comment on meeting items or other

issues of note or concern. Comments may be submitted in advance by writing

or e-mailing clerk@carnationwa.gov, or made in person, or by telephone or

computer connection at the time of the meeting. Individual comments shall be

limited to three minutes. Group comments shall be limited to five minutes.

10.  PRESENTATIONS

a) Harvold Property Annexation - Ron Branch, Branch Marketing Group

11. AGENDA BILLS:

a) AB23-38 Parking Violations

b) AB23-48 2023 Fee Schedule - Amendment #1

c) AB23-49 Entering into a contract with Benjamin Asphalt

d) AB23-50 Set date for HAP Public Hearing

e) AB23-51 Consultant Agreement

12. DISCUSSION ITEMS:

13. FUTURE AGENDAS:

a) Tentative agenda for the meeting of May 2nd, 2023

b) Tentative agenda for the meeting of May 16th, 2023

14. ADJOURNMENT: Mayor Jim Ribail

2

(p. 41)

(p. 42)
(p. 45)

(p. 70)
(p. 87)

(p. 88)

(p. 103)
(p. 106)

mailto:clerk@carnationwa.gov


1. CALL TO ORDER: Mayor Jim Ribail 

At: 6:00 P.M.

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Councilmember Ryan Burrell 

3. ROLL CALL: City Clerk Lora Wilmes 

Present: Councilmember Hawkins (via Zoom), Councilmember Green, Mayor 

Ribail, Deputy Mayor Harris, Councilmember Burrell 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA: Mayor and Council

MOTION BY DEPUTY MAYOR HARRIS SECOND BY COUNCILMEMBER

GREEN TO APPROVE AGENDA.

MOTION BY DEPUTY MAYOR HARRIS TO MOVE AB23-38 TO THE

“DISCUSSION ITEMS” SECTION OF THE AGENDA.

MOTION TO APPROVE THE AGENDA AS AMENDED PASSED (5-0).

5. EXECUTIVE SESSION: NONE 

6. CONSENT AGENDA:

a) Approval of Minutes for the following date(s):

i. Regular Session: March 21st, 2023

b) Approval of Claims in the following amount(s):

i. $275,123.47

c) Approval of Payroll for the following pay period(s):

i. February 20th, 2023 – March 5th, 2023

ii. March 6th, 2023 – March 19th, 2023

MOTION BY DEPUTY MAYOR HARRIS SECOND BY COUNCILMEMBER 

BURRELL TO APPROVE THE CONSENT AGENDA. MOTION PASSED (5-0) 

CARNATION CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
Regular Meeting Minutes 04.04.23 

Mayor Jim Ribail, Deputy Mayor Tim Harris, Ryan Burrell, Dustin Green, Adair Hawkins 

3



April 4th, 2023

– 2 –

7. COUNCIL REPORTS AND REQUESTS

Councilmember Hawkins

• Actively working to coordinate round-about funding on SR 203, not in

City limits

• Met with the Economic Development Committee about code violation

enforcement.

• Thank Sidd Rao from City Staff for working on technical problems.

• Mentioned Sno-Valley Transportation has small busses with low staffing.

Councilmember Burrell 

• Thanked Chamber of Commerce for putting on the Easter Egg Hunt at

Tolt Commons

o Came early to assist with set-up, o=Chamber was well organized.

• Thanked the public Works department and CED Principal Rhonda Ender

for working on Yoshimura property.

o Blocks facing Tolt Avenue have been removed.

• Mentioned that Pete’s Pour house is set to open about mid-April.

• Reached out to King County to trim up vegetation northbound on SR 203

for increased visibility.

Councilmember Green 

• Attended Carnation Easter Egg Hunt on April 1st.

o Lots of families, the new venue at Tolt Commons worked well.

o The revitalization of the Chamber comes with the goal of boosting

business.

o Events were held at Bear and Bee Books and Miller’s

o Councilmember Green’s Wife Debbie Green is President of the

Chamber of Commerce

• Attended Carnation Farm’s Open House

o Revitalizing to be an event space - has hospitality options for

weddings.

o There is a possibility of a shuttle for tourism.

Deputy Mayor Harris 

• Addressed the complaints regarding E Bird street.

o City Manager Cortez and Public Works department handling

standing water.

• Construction has begun at the O.W. Hollowell & Associates law office,

happy City Staff is on top of everything

• Attended Mental Health Levy Meeting hosted by King County

Councilmember Sarah Perry

4



 April 4th, 2023 

– 3 – 

o Levy money must fund 5 crisis care centers, 111 residential beds, 

and increase representation and size of mental health workforce. 

o Looking for Cities to propose locations for crisis care centers. 

o 40% of the levy proceeds go to building costs.  

o King County is not looking to change the threshold for involuntary 

care, taking a preventative stance. 

• Met with Head of King county road division, department of Local 

Services 

o Had Discussions regarding Tolt Hill bridge and Mainvue Housing 

Development 

o The washout under the road caused Tolt Hill Bridge shoulder 

closure. 

• F&O Update 

o The last set of Audited books was in 2020. 

o Continued report under the AB23-44 portion of Agenda. 

 

Mayor Ribail 

• Met with Amy Biggs from Sno-Valley Transportation on March 27th. 

o In the past, there were routes from 5:00 A.M. – 9:00 A.M. and 

4:00 P.M. – 6:00 P.M. 

o Had smaller buses with large ridership. 

o Had discussions about King County Metro Services 

• Met with King County Flood Advisory Board on March 29th. 

o Allocating funds differently 

o North Bend Mayor Rob McFarland is concerned, meeting with 

King County Councilmember Sarah Perry 

• Attended Carnation Chamber Easter Hunt on April 1st.  

• Attended Carnation Farms Open House on April 2nd to help foster 

connection between the City of Carnation and Carnation Farms 

o Discussed farm to table concept. 

o Carnation Farms will start hosting music - first concert is an 

American idol winner. 

o Met with Terry Morgan, of Modern Enterprises. 

 Helped to reopen Showbox SODO in Seattle 

 Worked with James Brown, The Ramones, and others. 

 Creator of the Borealis Light Festival - may do this out of 

Carnation Farms. 

• Attended a Mayor’s meeting with City of North Bend and City of 

Snoqualmie 

o Mayors wants Amy Biggs to come up with a plan to increase 

services and present to King County. Discussed connections into 

Redmond and Issaquah 

5



 April 4th, 2023 

– 4 – 

o Conducted a Facility Charges discussion, reported that the other 

two Cities are along the same lines. 

o All cities at the meeting lost the Port of Seattle Grant this year due 

to lack of data. 

• King County now has a Department of Local Services  

• Addressed the Farmer’s Market moving locations.  

o Went to press without addressing inaccuracies, Public Information 

Officer Ashlyn Farnworth got a chance to respond in the online 

version. 

o Read aloud a letter to the Farmer’s Market Board – Submitted as 
an Attachment in Minutes 

o Farmer’s Market entered into a Contract with King County 

o Shared that he grew up in Yakima and sold in farmers markets. 

o Commons area owned by residents of Carnation. 

o Mayor Ribail’s Response - Submitted as an Attachment in 
Minutes. 

o Contract – Submitted as an Attachment in Minutes 

o Directed residents to the December 20th meeting on the website 

to view the meeting with the Farmer’s Market Board 

 
8. STAFF REPORTS: 

a) City Manager’s Office - City Manager Ana Cortez 

 

CED Principal Rhonda Ender 

• Anticipating mid-April for Pour house Pete’s, awaiting a liquor permit 

o Not waiting on the City in any way 

• The Workshop space is now up for lease, met with the leasing person. 

• Little yellow house next to Dance Studio up for rent 

• Ignite Dance is planning Summer Camps and more Parent Night Out 

events,  

o Reported good interactions with City, wanted to pass along their 

thanks. 

• Economic Development Committee discussed potential uses for the 

parking lot next to Big Block Brewing 

o Potential for permanent carts for vendors to reserve in order to 

assist small businesses who can’t have brick and mortar shops. 

• Code enforcement – people have been cooperative and compliant. 

o There is no longer an RV and a boat stored next door to City Hall 

• Planning and Parks retreat took place on March 28th.  

o Trial period with both groups, people commented that it makes 

more sense to have decisions be made together. 

o Received Parks Grant funding, activating Tolt Commons 

o Working on Comprehensive Plan 

6



 April 4th, 2023 

– 5 – 

• Attended Carnation Farms Open House 

• Evacuation Hill Property  

o The property is 2.6 acres in size.  

o The City is interested in moving forward, recognizes property has 

value.  

o The survey will be paid for by the prospective buyer. 

o Mayor Ribail mentioned that this is a small Parcel, not buildable, 

and the prospective buyer wants to put his goats on it 

o Councilmember Green mentions there is no impact to evacuation 

site. 

o Councilmember Burrell mentions that it is land- locked by other 

properties and will remain a rural piece of property. 

o Councilmember Hawkins says as lead of the Safety Committee, is 

pro-goat. 

 

b) Capital Improvement Project Update – Administrative Services Manager 

Lora Wilmes 

• Surveying for projects will start this week and the following. Will be 

followed up by design. 

• Gray and Osborne is contracted to start work on Bird Street, Brumbaugh 

watermain, Entwistle Street, and McKinley Avenue on April 18th. 

• Finding funding opportunities for 2024 and 2025 CIPS 

• Emergency Operations Center on track 

o Permit reviews are being done through the Community Economic 

Development department. 

o Going out to bid in a few weeks. Will open bids in May. 

• McKinley Apartments being on the market will not delay any projects. 

o City Manager Ana Cortez mentions she is in contact with King 

County Housing Authority 

o The goal of the authority is to protect affordability and assign 

responsibility for upkeep. 

 

c) Schefer Property FAQ – Public Information Officer Ashlyn Farnworth 

• P.I.O. Farnworth read the Schefer Property Frequently Asked Questions 

document aloud to the Council. 

City Manager Cortez  

• The City is partnering with Carnation Starbucks for Earth Day on 

Saturday April 22nd.  

• Working on Department of Retirement Systems ongoing audits, 

o Unearthing potential liabilities, reporting hours NOT compensation 

• Working on the 2023 Budget 

o Publicly thanked Maria Pena for jumping in to help after the City’s 

longtime treasurer resigned. 

7



 April 4th, 2023 

– 6 – 

o Pena convinced City Manager Cortez to leave the Vision 

Accounting system and go to Springbrook. 

 

9.  PUBLIC HEARING: Amending CMC 15.44.040 - Vehicles as Temporary 

Dwelling Units. 
“Public agencies may erect and use temporary structures (e.g., portable school 
classrooms, civic uses, emergency command centers, health and social services 
centers, etc.) upon demonstrating that such a use is in the public benefit and that the 
use is temporary in nature. Permits for temporary public structures shall expire one 
year after issuance but may be renewed annually by the city planner upon 
demonstration of continued public benefit and need.” 
 
Mayor Ribail Opens Public Hearing at 7:07 P.M. 

Mayor Ribail Closes Public Hearing at 7:08 P.M. 

 

10.  PUBLIC COMMENT & REQUESTS: Public comment on meeting items or 
other issues of note or concern. Comments may be submitted in advance by 
writing or e-mailing clerk@carnationwa.gov, or made in person, or by telephone 
or computer connection at the time of the meeting. Individual comments shall 
be limited to three minutes. Group comments shall be limited to five minutes. 

 

Sally and Margaret wish to have more information about the proposed changes 

 

11.  PRESENTATIONS:  

a) Online Billing Demonstration – Administrative Services Manager, Lora 

Wilmes 

• The City is no longer working with Invoice Cloud  

• If an account is delinquent, the City of Carnation will notify the account 

holder via snail mail or door hangers for utility shut offs. 

o Urged public to disregard all emails from Invoice Cloud 

• Xpress Pay is compatible with Springbrook, the City’s new accounting 

system. 

• Bagels and Billing events scheduled for April 11th 3:00 P.M. – 5:00 P.M. 

and April 14 10:00 A.M. – 12:00 P.M.  

o Opportunity for residents to get sign-up help. 

• Wilmes did a demonstration to show how to enroll in Xpress Pay 

 
12.  AGENDA BILLS:  

a) AB23-13 Motion: Public Works Board Loan 

MOTION BY DEPUTY MAYOR HARRIS SECOND BY COUNCILMEMBER 

GREEN. MOTION PASSED (5-0). 

 

b) AB23-42 Motion: Recology – Wildlife Resistant Cans 

8

mailto:clerk@carnationwa.gov


 April 4th, 2023 

– 7 – 

MOTION BY COUNCILMEMBER GREEN SECOND BY 

COUNCILMEMBER BURRELL. MOTION PASSED (5-0). 

 

c) AB23-43 Ordinance: Amendment CMC 10.12.030 AND 10.12.31 Parking 

Proposed language changes submitted as an attachment in the minutes. 
MOTION BY DEPUTY MAYOR HARRIS SECOND BY COUNCILMEMBER 
BURRELL. MOTION PASSED (5-0). 
  

d) AB23-44 Ordinance: Amendment to Fund Balance 2022 

F&O Committee Reports Out: 

• Prior CFO Nitish Sharma reported to the state what was in the 

accounting system. 

• Next agenda bill will show accounting transfers to get fund balances. 

• Thanked City Manager Ana Cortez prior Deputy City Manager Nitish 

Sharma, Jeff Balentine, and Maria Pena for their work. 

 

MOTION BY DEPUTY MAYOR HARRIS SECOND BY COUNCILMEMBER 

GREEN. MOTION PASSED (5-0). 

 

e) AB23-45 Ordinance: Creation of Utility Tax 

MOTION BY DEPUTY MAYOR HARRIS SECOND BY COUNCILMEMBER 

BURRELL. COUNCILMEMBERS BURRELL, HARRIS HAWKINS, AND 

RIBAIL IN FAVOR. COUNCILMEMBER GREEN OPPOSED. MOTION 

PASSED (4-0). 

 

f) AB23-46 Motion: Lease Agreement: VB BTS II, LLC. (Cell Tower) 

MOTION BY DEPUTY MAYOR HARRIS. SECOND BY COUNCILMEMBER 

GREEN. MOTION PASSED (5-0) 

 

g) AB23-47 Motion: Accept Grant for Comprehensive Plan Updates 

MOTION BY COUNCILMEMBER HAWKINS. SECOND BY DEPUTY 

MAYOR GREEN. MOTION PASSED (5-0). 

 
13.  DISCUSSION ITEMS: 

a) Fee Schedule 

The Council Reviewed the 2023 Fee Schedule Document and offered 

feedback. 

 

• MOTION TO RECONSIDER AB23-38 NEXT MEETING BY DEPUTY 

MAYOR HARRIS SECOND BY COUNCILMEMBER BURRELL. MOTION 

PASSED (5-0) 

 

• Fundraiser for DECA, May 13th Pickleball Mayor 

9



 April 4th, 2023 

– 8 – 

 
14.  FUTURE AGENDAS:  

a) Tentative agenda for the meeting of April 18th, 2023 

b) Tentative agenda for the meeting of May 2nd, 2023 

 

15.  ADJOURNMENT: Mayor Jim Ribail 

At: 9:19 P.M. 

 
 
Approved at the regular meeting of the Carnation City Council on April 18th, 
2023. 
 
  
 
_____________________________________________________  
MAYOR JIM RIBAIL  
 
 
 
_____________________________________________________  
CITY CLERK LORA WILMES 
 
 

10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



SUMMARY STATEMENT AND DISCUSSION FOR PUBLIC HEARING ON
DEFINITION OF ALLEY:

On October 16, 2018, the Carnation City Council approved Ordinance 909 which was
the adoption of high-density development regulations that were primarily applicable to
the city’s land use zones that support high density residential development. In
amending the definitions in CMC 15.08.010 the definition of “alley” was overlooked.  
As such, the current definition is inconsistent with the definition provided in the current
edition of the Carnation Street and Storm Sewer Standards and renders some of the
intended results of the adopted HDDRs related rear lot access impossible to achieve.
The requested action is that the City Council approve the correction to this
omission as a clerical error by motion.   

History:
At the October 4, 2022, City Council meeting, the Council voted 5-0 to send the
agenda bill to the Planning Board for review and recommendation. The Planning
Board recommended adopting the above definition of alley at their December 7, 2022,
meeting.

The proposed definition (which has already been updated in the current edition of the
Carnation Street and Storm Sewer Standards) is as follows:   
"Alley" is a public or private way, at the rear or side of property, permanently reserved 
as a means of vehicular or pedestrian access to a property.   

The prior definition:  
"Alley" means a public highway not designed for general travel and used primarily as a
means of access to the rear of residences and business establishments.  

41



C A R N A T I O N  C I T Y  C O U N C I L
A G E N D A B I L L

TITLE: A MOTION to amend code 

10.16.030 - Parking Restrictions 

Agenda Bill No.: AB23-38 

Type of Action: Motion 

Origin: 

(Council/Manager) 

City Manager 

Agenda Bill Author: City Manager 

EXHIBITS: 

• Attachment A: Redlined Code

Date Submitted: 03/21/23 

For Agenda of: 03/21/23 

Expenditure Required: 0 

Amount Budgeted: N/A 

Appropriation 

Required: 

N/A 

SUMMARY STATEMENT AND DISCUSSION: 

The City Manager asks the Council to authorize changes to CMC 10.16.030 in order to adopt 

more robust language restricting parking within the City. Current code is not effective for 

addressing illegal parking problems currently affecting the City. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:   

Motion to approve amendment to Code 10.16.030 as indicated in Exhibit A. 

42



LEGISLATIVE HISTORY:   

On 3/21/23, AB23-38 was first brought to the Council. See Minutes Entry Below: 

MOTION BY COUNCILMEMBER GREEN TO TABLE, NO SECOND. DEAD MOTION. 

MOTION BY DEPUTY MAYOR HARRIS SECOND BY COUNCILMEMBER BURRELL 

TO AMEND AB23-38 BY REPLACING THE PROPSED BILL WITH THE FOLLOWING 

LANGUAGE:  

A) IT IS UNLAWFUL FOR ANY PERSON TO STOP, PARK OR LEAVE STANDING

ANY VEHICLE UPON ANY STREET FOR CONTINUOUS PERIOD IN EXCESS OF 24

HOURS IN THE CENTRAL BUSINESS DISTRICT, OR 72 HOURS IN ANY OTHER

PART OF THE CITY, UNLESS OTHERWISE FURTHER RESTRICTED BY OTHER

PROVISIONS OF THE CITY CODE IN WHICH CASE THE MORE RESTRICTIVE

PROVISION SHALL APPLY.

B) IT IS UNLAWFUL FOR ANY VEHICLE (WHICH THE EXCEPTION OF POLICE OR

OTHER MUNICIPAL VEHICLES) THAT ARE PARKED, STOPPED, OR STANDING ON

ANY STREET, ALLEY, OR PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY TO REMAIN OCCUPIED BY ANY

PERSON OR ANIMAL FOR MORE THAN ONE HOUR.

COUNCILMEMBERS HAWKINS, HARRIS, RIBAIL, AND BURRELL IN FAVOR. 

COUNCILMEMBER GREEN OPPOSED. MOTION AMENDED (4-1).  

COUNCILMEMBERS HAWKINS, HARRIS, RIBAIL, AND BURRELL IN FAVOR. 

COUNCILMEMBER GREEN OPPOSED. MOTION PASSED (4-1) 

On 04/04/23, AB23-38 was moved to Discussion Items. See Minutes Entry Below: 

MOTION TO RECONSIDER AB23-38 NEXT MEETING BY DEPUTY 

MAYOR HARRIS SECOND BY COUNCILMEMBER BURRELL. MOTION 

PASSED (5-0) 

ACTION TAKEN 

MOTION AS PROPOSED MOTION AS AMENDED 

Motion made by: Motion made by: Deputy Mayor Harris 

Second by: Second by: Councilmember Burrell 

YES Vote NO Vote YES Vote NO Vote 

Hawkins Hawkins x 

Ribail Ribail x 

Harris Harris x 

Burrell Burrell x 

Green Green x 

Passed/Failed Passed/Failed 

Ordinance/Resolution No.: Ordinance/Resolution No.: 

43



• 10.16.030 - Parking restrictions.

No vehicle over twelve thousand pounds gross weight including any semi or dump truck 

shall park overnight on any street, or portion of street, or alley, or in front of any address 

regardless of location for longer than six hours, within the city. 

(Ord. 281 § 3, 1983) 

PROPOSED NEW LANGUAGE 

• 10.16.030 - Parking restrictions.

• (A)   It is unlawful for any person to stop, park or leave standing any vehicle upon any

street for a continuous period in excess of 24 hours unless otherwise further restricted by

other provisions of the city code in which case the more restrictive revisions shall apply.

• (B)   The Manager may, when authorized by resolution of the Council, designate

certain streets, blocks or portions of streets or blocks as prohibited parking zones, or five-

minute, ten-minute, 15-minute, 30-minute, one-hour, two-hour, four-hour, six-hour,

eight-hour, morning or afternoon rush hour limited parking zones and shall mark by

appropriate signs any zones so established. The zones shall be established whenever

necessary for the convenience of the public or to minimize traffic hazards and preserve a

free flow of traffic. It is unlawful for any person to stop, park or leave standing any

vehicle in a prohibited parking zone, for a period of time in excess of the sign-posted

limitation, or during sign-posted hours of prohibited parking.

44



C A R N A T I O N  C I T Y  C O U N C I L
A G E N D A B I L L

TITLE: A MOTION to amend the 2023 Fee 

Schedule. 

Agenda Bill No.: AB23-48 

Type of Action: Motion 

Origin: (Council/Manager) City Manager 

Agenda Bill Author: City Manager 

EXHIBITS: 

Exhibit A: Resolution 

Exhibit B: Proposed Amended 2023 Fee 

Schedule  

Date Submitted: 04-18-23

For Agenda of: 04-18-23

Expenditure Required: 0 

Amount Budgeted: N/A 

Appropriation Required: N/A 

SUMMARY STATEMENT AND DISCUSSION: 

The City Council of the City of Carnation has determined that it is in the best interests of the 

City to provide a single, efficient, and convenient listing of all fees, fines, penalties, interest, 

and charges for permits, licenses, services, applications and filing fees. 

As Quarter 1 comes to a close in Fiscal Year 2023, the City has re-evaluated the fee schedule 

due to feedback from Council, City Staff, community members, and other stakeholders. The 

City wishes to implement this as a quarterly exercise going forward. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

I move to accept the resolution approving Amendment #1 of the Fee Schedule for FY 2023. 

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY: 

ACTION TAKEN 

MOTION AS PROPOSED MOTION AS AMENDED 

Motion made by: Motion made by: 

Second by: Second by: 

YES Vote NO Vote YES Vote NO Vote 

Hawkins Hawkins 

Ribail Ribail 

Harris Harris 

Burrell Burrell 

Green Green 

Passed/Failed Passed/Faile

d 

Ordinance/Resolution No.: Ordinance/Resolution No.: 

45

AshlynFarnworth
Cross-Out



2023
Fee Schedule

Effective Date: April 19, 2023 

Ana Cortez, City Manager 
Rhonda Ender, CED Principal 
Ashlyn Farnworth, P.I.O.

Presented by

46



Table of Contents

Construction Permit and Inspection Fees.............................................3
General Development Permit and Review Fees..................................6
Cemetery Fees...........................................................................................10
Impact Fees.................................................................................................12
Solid Waste Fees.......................................................................................15
Event Fees...................................................................................................21
Miscellaneous Fees...................................................................................22
Hourly Rates...............................................................................................24

Cost Recovery Statement: 
Costs for planning, engineering, legal and/or other
professional services shall be reimbursed by the applicant,
in addition to a 10% administrative fee.

47



3

Assessed Valuation FY'23 Fees

$1.00 - $10,000.00 5% of valuation of the project

$10,001.00 - $25,000.00 $700.00

$25,001.00 - $50,000.00 $1,085.00

$50,001.00  - $100,000.00 $1,505.00

$100,001.00 - $500,000.00 $2,530.00

$500,001.00 - $1,000,000.00 $5,210.00

$1,000,000.00 and Up $8,645.00 + $20 per $1,000 over
1,000,000.00 Valuation

Construction Permit and Inspection Fees
Building Permit Fees: 
Valuation based on value reported on a permit or International Code Council Building valuation data:

FEES

Miscellaneous Inspections, Plan Review, and Other Fees

Type FY'23 Fees

Plan Review fee: Residential $390 + 65% of Building Permit Fee

Plan Review fee: Commercial $2,565 + 80% of Building Permit Fee

Additional plan review required by changes, additions or revisions to plans COST RECOVERY

Washington State Building Code Council Fee (RCW 19.27.085) Residential $6.50

Washington State Building Code Council Fee (RCW 19.27.085) Commercial $25.00

Demolition $505.00

ADU - City Program License License Fee

48



4

FEES

Type FY'23 Fees

ADU - Applicant's Own Plans $395.00

Mobile/manufactured home placement inspection $220.00

Single-family Residential Re-roof permit (nonstructural) $220.00

Certificate of occupancy $170.00

Wood stove relocation/installation $290.00

Change of occupancy requiring an inspection $355.00

Inspections outside of normal business hours (minimum charge two hours) $295.00 minimum

Inspections for which no fee is specifically indicated (minimum charge one hour) $140.00 per hour

Reinspection fee (minimum charge – one hour) $140.00 minimum

Uniform Housing code inspection or license care inspection $345.00

Miscellaneous Inspections, Plan Review, and Other Fees

Mechanical Permit Fees

For issuing each mechanical permit including furnace, appliance vents, boilers, compressors, absorption
systems, air handlers/heat pumps, evaporative coolers, ventilation and exhaust, incinerators and any other
appliance or piece of equipment regulated by the International Mechanical Code but not classed in other
appliance categories or for which no other fee is listed.

Type FY'23 Fees

Residential mechanical permit issuance $240.00

Commercial mechanical permit issuance 15% of Building Permit Fee, based on
valuation of improvement.

For issuing each supplemental mechanical permit revision for which the original
permit has not expired, been canceled, or finalized $180.00

49



5

FEES

Plumbing Permit Fees

For issuing each plumbing permit including fixtures, traps, sewers, disposal systems, interceptors, water piping
and water heaters, gas piping systems, medical gas systems, swimming pools and spas, lawn sprinklers, vacuum
breakers and backflow protection devices and any other appliance or piece of equipment regulated by the
Uniform Plumbing Code but not classed in other appliance categories, or for which no other fee is listed in this fee
schedule.

Type FY'23 Fees

Residential plumbing permit issuance $240.00

Commercial plumbing permit issuance 15% of Building Permit Fee, based on valuation of improvement.

For Issuing each supplemental plumbing permit that
has not expired, been canceled, or finalized $180.00

Other Mechanical Inspections

Type FY'23 Fees

Inspections outside of normal business hours, per hour (minimum charge two hours) $196.00 per hour

Reinspection fees assessed per inspection $140.00 per hour

Inspections for which no fee is specifically indicated, per hour (minimum charge one hour) $140.00 per hour

Additional plan review required by changes, additions or revisions to plans for which an initial
review has been completed, per hour (minimum charge one hour) $140.00 per hour

Other Plumbing Inspections

Type FY'23 Fees

Inspections outside of normal business hours, per hour (minimum charge two hours) $196.00 per hour

Reinspection fees assessed per inspection $140.00 per hour

Inspections for which no fee is specifically indicated, per hour (minimum charge one hour) $140.00 per hour

Additional plan review required by changes, additions or revisions to plans for which an
initial review has been completed, per hour (minimum charge one hour) $140.00 per hour 

50



6
 

FEES

Amendment Request to Comprehensive Plan or Development Regulations. If approved for docketing by the City
Council, the following fees apply:

Type FY'23 Fees

Appeals (unless another fee is specifically set forth by ordinance of land use decision). Appeal
fee refunded if appellant prevails $780.00

Binding Site Plan, less than 4 lots - Divide property in no more than 4 lots $955.00

Binding Site Plan, more than 4 lots - Divide property in more than 4 lots $1,535.00

Boundary Line Adjustment to change shape or size or property $410.00

Conditional or Shoreline permits $915.00

Review of a Critical area reasonable use exception request $915.00

Design review for minor exterior remodel $355.00

Design review for major exterior remodel (with a Site Development Review Permit) $535.00

Design review for major exterior remodel (without a Site Development Review Permit) $875.00

Flood Hazard Area Development Permit $545.00

Hearing Examiner Administrative Hearings $700.00 

Impact Fee Deferral Administrative Fee, per building permit/deferral request (for single family
residential only) $1,030.00

Model Home Review Fee $450.00

Preliminary Review of  Long Plat $1,940.00

Final Review of Long Plat $985.00

Planned Land Used Permits and Fees

General Development Permit & Review

51



7
 
 

CIP FEES

Type FY'23 Fees

Short Plat - Preliminary Review $955.00

Short Plat - Final Review $495.00

Plat alteration or resubmittal $530.00 + Hourly 

First Pre-application meeting - subsequent meetings at hourly cost $530.00

Construction Right of Way (ROW) Permit (per week) $325.00

Site Specific Rezone review $1,365.00

SEPA Environmental Checklist Non-Project Action Section D with a docket request to amend the
Comprehensive Plan or Development Regulations that is not consolidated with a site-specific
rezone request. 

$880.00

SEPA Environmental Checklist with an existing Land Use Permit $375.00

SEPA Environmental Checklist without an existing Land Use Permit $710.00

SEPA EIS supplemental deposit.  Final fee will be based on actual costs. $3,000.00

Shoreline exemption permit $285.00

Shoreline Substantial Development Permit or Conditional Use Permit $785.00

Shoreline variance $1,285.00

Site plan development review, Major per CMC 15.18.160(A) $1,205.00

Site plan development review, Minor per CMC 15.18.160(B) $780.00

Street vacation $540.00

Variance $540.00

Sign permit, all allowed signs on the same application. Per application fee. $200.00

Planned Land Used Permits and Fees cont.

52



8
 
 

CIP FEES

Type FY'23 Fees

Development Agreement Application Fee $500.00

Development Agreement Processing Fee ((if Council approves Threshold Decision to
proceed with further review) $2,500.00

Annexation Petition Filing Fee $1000.00

Text Amendment $500.00

Map Amendment $2,500.00

Planned Land Used Permits and Fees cont.

Engineering Permits and Fees

Type FY'23 Fees

Alternative Calculation (Concurrency Test). $1,420.00

Applicant-Initiated Independent Fee Calculation Review (Impact Fees) $1,420.00

Clearing, Grading, Excavation and Filling Permits

Type FY'23 Fees

Resident Permit Fee $240.00

Commercial Permit Fee 15% of Building Permit Fee, based on valuation of improvement

Drainage Permit

Type FY'23 Fees

Non-SFR development, 2,000 sf or more of new or replaced impervious surface area $520.00

53



9

FEES

Inspection Fees by City Staff

Type FY'23 Fees

Inspection by City Staff (one hour minimum) $165.00 per hour

Inspection by City Staff outside of normal business hours (one hour minimum) $250.00 per hour

Utility Extensions

Type FY'23 Fees

Utility extension application fee - per utility $540.00

Side Sewer Stub Service and Installation Permit Fees

Type FY'23 Fees

Single-Family / Commercial side sewer $360.00

Multi-family residence side sewer (for new development, if approved for joint side sewers) $360.00 + 150 per unit

Side sewer and/or air vent relocation (permit issuance and inspection) $200.00

Complex situations, as determined by the City Cost Recovery

Side sewer reconveyance fee $450.00

54



10
 

FEES

Cemetery Fees

Cemetery

Type FY'23 Fees

Interment Plot for Casket $2,105.00

Inurnment Plot for Urn $1,690.00

Burial Fees

Type FY'23 Fees

Opening and Closing of a grave $1,855.00

Vault (concrete rough box) for a casket $740.00

Tent, lowering device, trim & chairs (required for caskets) $645.00

Casket

Type FY'23 Fees

Opening and Closing of a grave for an urn $1,465.00

Vault (concrete rough box) for an urn $300.00

Urn

55



11

FEES

Burial Fees cont.

Type FY'23 Fees

Saturday Services Additional Fee – First Six (6) Hours $1,430.00

Overtime – Saturday Services - each additional hour or portion $635.00 per hour

Sunday and Holiday Services Additional Fee – First Six (6) Hours $2,555.00

Overtime – Sunday and Holiday Services, each additional hour or portion $795.00 per hour

Stand-by – Weekdays and Saturdays Per Hour or Portion $635.00 per hour 

Overtime –Weekdays and Saturdays Per Hour or Portion $635.00 per hour

Type FY'23 Fees

Marker/Monument Placement $395.00

Monument/Marker Re-setting $395.00

Marker/Monument Price Varies

Grave Markers and Monuments

Additional Products and Services

56



12

 FEES

Transportation

Type FY'23 Fees

Single Family Development (per unit) $8,815.00

Multi Family / Duplex  (per unit) $5,095.00

ADU (per unit) $3,000.00

Type FY'23 Fees

Single Family Development (per unit) $4,805.00

Multi Family Duplex, (per unit) $3,855.00

ADU (per unit) $2,000.00

Parks

Impact Fees

Nonresidential Transportation

Type FY'23 Fees

General Light Industrial $8.45 per sq. ft.

Manufacturing $6.36 per sq. ft. 

Warehouse (including Mini) $0.66 per sq. ft. 

Motel $973.32 per room

Health/Fitness Club $6.58 per sq. ft.

Nonresidential uses not listed will be charged at type closest to use.

57



13

 FEES

Type FY'23 Fees

Recreational / Community Center $5.11 per sq. ft.

School $1.61 per sq. ft.

Church $1.08 per sq. ft. 

Daycare Center $19.17 per sq. ft.

Library $11.34 per sq. ft.

General Office $11.68 per sq. ft.

Medical Dental Office/Clinic $5.54 per sq. ft. 

Government Office Building $7.78 per sq. ft. 

Post Office $17.43 per sq. ft. 

Shopping Center $17.49 per sq. ft. 

Specialty Retail Center $3.70 per sq. ft. 

Supermarket $12.56 per sq. ft. 

Convenience Market (Open 24 Hours) $42.33 per sq. ft. 

Discount Supermarket $13.30 per sq. ft. 

Pharmacy (without drive-thru) $8.18 per sq. ft. 

Drive-in Bank $26.67 per sq. ft. 

Quality Restaurant $8.69 per sq. ft. 

High Turnover / Sit Down Rest $11.63 per sq. ft. 

Nonresidential Transportation cont.

58



14

 FEES

Type FY'23 Fees

Fast Food with Drive Thru $33.81 per sq. ft.

Coffee / Donut Shop with Drive Thru $44.32 per sq. ft.

Quick Lube Vehicle Shop $8,060.94 per service bay

Gasoline / Service Station $16,659.48 per pump

For School Impact Fees, consult Riverview School District.
For Fire Impact Fees, consult Eastside Fire and Rescue.

Nonresidential Transportation cont.

59



15

FEES

Solid Waste - Recology Rates (King County)
Residential Single Family - Monthly Collection

Type FY'23 Fees

1 - 35 gal Cart $14.87 per month

Type FY'23 Fees

1 - 20 gal Cart $23.30 per month

1 - 35 gal Cart $31.09 per month

1 - 64 gal Cart $62.25 per month 

1 - 96 gal Cart $100.75 per month

Extra(s) (32 Gallons) $6.57 per pickup

Residential Single Family - Weekly Collection

Roll Out Charges

Type FY'23 Fees

Distance (5-25 Feet) $2.00 per pickup

Additional 25 ft. increments $3.32 per pickup

Miscellaneous Service Fees

Type FY'23 Fees

Drive-in $6.64 per pickup

Return Trip or Special Pick-up $19.92 per pickup

Redelivery Charge $19.92 per pickup

60



16

FEES

Residential Curbside Yard Waste - Weekly Collection

Type FY'23 Fees

Appliances (non-refrigerant) $69.62 per pickup

Refrigerators/Freezers $109.86 per pickup

Sofas $65.80 per pickup

Chairs $65.40 per pickup

Mattress or Box Springs $65.40 per pickup

Tires: Auto/Light Truck $27.96 per pickup

Bus/Heavy Truck $37.43 per pickup

Add'l for Rims or Wheels $19.92 per pickup

Miscellaneous, per cubic yard $60.16 per pickup 

Type FY'23 Fees

1 - 64 gal Cart  $10.95 per month

1 - 96 gal Cart  $11.95 per month

Cost per extra 64 gallon cart $10.95 per month 

Cost per extra 96 gallon cart $11.95 per month

Extra can (per pickup) $4.98 per pickup

Redelivery Charge $19.92 per pickup

On-Call Bulky Waste Collection

61



17

FEES

Temporary Container Service

Type FY '23 Fees

Daily Rent $1.32 per yard container

Delivery $53.12 per yard container

Temp. 2 Yard Container $93.40 per pickup

Temp. 4 Yard Container $153.58 per pickup 

Temp. 6 Yard Container $193.85 per pickup 

Type FY '23 Fees

1 - 35 gal Cart  $31.44 per month

1 - 64 gal Cart  $64.27 per month

1 - 96 gal Cart  $103.64 per month

Commercial / Multi-Family Weekly Cart Service

Commercial / Multi-Family Monthly Container Service -Loose per Month

Type FY '23 Fees

1 Yard $161.89 per month

1.5 Yard $235.86 per month

2 Yard $305.19 per month

3 Yard $443.88 per month

4 Yard $573.28 per month

6 Yard $832.08 per month

8 yard $1,072.33 per month

62



18

FEES

Commercial/Multifamily Yard Debris 

Type FY '23 Fees

1 96 Gallon Cart, weekly collection $11.95 per month

1 2 cubic yard container, weekly $166.01 per momth

1 extra cubic yard $26.56 pickup

Commercial / Multifamily Miscellaneous Service Fees

Type FY '23 Fees

Special pickup or return trips $26.56 per pickup

Container rollouts (per 10 ft. increments) $3.98 per pickup

Unlocking lids $3.98 per pickup

Opening gates $3.98 per pickup

Extra Uncompacted Cubic Yard/Pickup $30.10 per pickup

Drop Box Collection Delivery Fees

Type FY'23 Fees

Initial Delivery and Setup $79.68 per pickup

Swap box delivery $79.68 per pickup

63



19

FEES

Type FY'23 Fees

20 yd container - Permanent $332.01 per pickup

30 yd container - Permanent $332.01 per pickup

40 yd container - Permanent $332.01 per pickup

20 yd container - Temporary $332.01 per pickup

30 yd container - Temporary $332.01 per pickup

40 yd container - Temporary $332.01 per pickup

Drop Box Collection Hauling Fees

Drop Box Collection Rental Fees

Type FY'23 Fees

20 yd container - Permanent $53.12 per month

30 yd container - Permanent $66.40 per month

40 yd container - Permanent $79.68 per month

20 yd container - Temporary (per day) $2.66 per day

30 yd container - Temporary (per day) $2.66 per day

40 yd container - Temporary (per day) $2.66 per day

Special Drop-off Collection Events

Type FY'23 Fees

Truck and Driver / Handler $132.80 per hour

64



20

FEES

Special Drop-off Collection Events - Hauling Charges

Type FY'23 Fees

  20 yd container - Temporary $332.01 per pickup

  30 yd container - Temporary $332.01 per pickup

  40 yd container - Temporary $332.01 per pickup

Special Drop-off Collection Events - Rental Fees

Type FY'23 Fees

  20 yd container - Temporary $2.66 per day

  30 yd container - Temporary $2.66 per day

  40 yd container - Temporary $2.66 per day

65



21

FEES

Fee Type FY'23 Fees

Reservation of all City- owned facilities / closure of PROW: weekends per day $230.00

Reservation of all City-owned facilities / closure of PROW: weekdays per day $160.00

Food Trucks (one day) $30.00

City Labor (as available) $80.00 minimum 

Transient Merchants: no more than 3 days in a calendar year $15.00

City Grill per event (4 hrs.) - Includes propane and cleaning $150.00 

Event Fees

66



22

FEES

Fee Type FY'23 Fees

Business License per location $75.00

Temporary Business License per location (30 days) $75.00

Miscellaneous Fees
Business Licenses

Pet Licenses (Regional Animal Services of King County)

Fee Type FY'23 Fees

Juvenile (Animals under 6 months of age, 6-month expiration) $15.00

Altered (Spay/Neuter, proof required) $30.00 annually

Unaltered (Includes voucher for savings on spay/neuter) $60.00 annually

Senior Citizen (Proof citizen is 65 or older.  Proof dog/cat is spayed or neutered) $15.00 annually

Replacement (For lost, unexpired tag) $5.00

Disabled (Issued by King County Pet Licensing Office, 206-296-2712) $15.00 annually

Franchise Fees

Fee Type FY'23 Fees

Cable Television Franchise Agreement Application/Renewal Fee $5,000

Telecommunications Franchise Agreement Application Fee $5,000

Telecommunications Franchise Agreement Renewal Fee $2,500

67



23

FEES

Fee Type FY'23 Fees

Late penalty on any delinquent payment, unless payment arrangements are made and approved no
less than three (3) business days prior to the due date 5% per month

Penalty on any Returned Check or Electronic Payment
Customers who have two payments returned by the bank for any reason within a twelve month period may
be placed on a cash or online payment only status for the subsequent twelve month period.

$50.00

Fee Type FY'23 Fees

Service Call and water shut offs and turn-ons- During regular hours $80.00 per hour

Service Call and water shut offs and turn ons- After regular hours  $120.00 per hour 

Service Calls 

Penalties

68



24

FEES

Hourly Rates

Hourly Rates FY'23 Fees

City Planner $85.00 per hour 

Permit Tech $85.00 per hour 

Accounting Tech/ Administrative $75.00 per hour

CED Supervisor/Lead $80.00 per hour

Maintenance Worker $80.00 per hour

69



C A R N A T I O N  C I T Y  C O U N C I L
A G E N D A B I L L

TITLE:  A MOTION authorizing City 

Manager to enter and negotiate a contract 

with Benjamin Asphalt for the amount not to 

exceed $300,000. 

Agenda Bill No.: AB23-49 

Type of Action: MOTION 

Origin: 

(Council/Manager) 

City Manager 

Agenda Bill Author: City Manager 

EXHIBITS: 

• Contract with Benjamin Asphalt

Date Submitted: 04/18/23 

For Agenda of: 04/18/23 

Expenditure Required: $300,000 

Amount Budgeted: $300,000 

Appropriation 

Required: 

$0 

SUMMARY STATEMENT AND DISCUSSION: 

This contract will allow Benjamin Asphalt to provide water valve cleaning, exercising, 

and repairs. This contract will also include alley repair and grading. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  I make a motion authorizing City Manager to enter and 

negotiate a contract with Benjamin Asphalt for the amount not to exceed $300,000. 

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY: 

ACTION TAKEN 

MOTION AS PROPOSED MOTION AS AMENDED 

Motion made by: Motion made by: 

Second by: Second by: 

YES Vote NO Vote YES Vote NO Vote 

Hawkins Hawkins 

Ribail Ribail 

Harris Harris 

Burrell Burrell 

Green Green 

Passed/Failed Passed/Failed 

Ordinance/Resolution No.: Ordinance/Resolution No.: 

70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



C A R N A T I O N  C I T Y  C O U N C I L
A G E N D A B I L L

TITLE A MOTION to Schedule a Public 

Hearing for Housing Action Plan 

Comments on May 16th, 2023.

Agenda Bill No.: AB23-50 

Type of Action: 

Origin: 

(Council/Manager) 

City Manager 

Agenda Bill Author: City Manager 

EXHIBITS: 

• NONE

Date Submitted: 04/18/23 

For Agenda of: 04/18/23 

Expenditure Required: $0 

Amount Budgeted: $0 

Appropriation 

Required: 

N/A 

SUMMARY STATEMENT AND DISCUSSION: 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  I move to set a Public Hearing for May 16th, 2023 for 
the Housing Action Plan comments.

LEGISLATIVE HISTORY: 

ACTION TAKEN 

MOTION AS PROPOSED MOTION AS AMENDED 

Motion made by: Motion made by: 

Second by: Second by: 

YES Vote NO Vote YES Vote NO Vote 

Hawkins Hawkins 

Ribail Ribail 

Harris Harris 

Burrell Burrell 

Green Green 

Passed/Failed Passed/Failed 

Ordinance/Resolution No.: Ordinance/Resolution No.: 

87

Motion

The Housing Action Plan will be released to the public prior to the May 16th Meeting.



C A R N A T I O N C I T Y  C O U N C I L
A G E N D A B I L L

TITLE: A Motion to enter into a 
Consultant Contract with Ricardo Noguera 

to complete a feasibility study for the State 

Community Economic Revitalization 

Board (CERB) grant for the amount not to 
exceed $62,500.00

Agenda Bill No.: AB23-51 

Type of Action: 

Origin: 

(Council/Manager) 

City Manager 

Agenda Bill Author: City Manager 

EXHIBITS: 

• Consultant Contract with Ricardo

Noguera

Date Submitted: 04/18/23 

For Agenda of: 04/18/23 

Expenditure Required: $62,500.00

Amount Budgeted: $12,500.00 

Appropriation 

Required: 

$50,000.00

SUMMARY STATEMENT AND DISCUSSION: 

The City of Carnation received a grant from CERB in the amount of $50,000. The City 

match contribution is $12,500. The feasibility study needs to be completed by an outside 

consultant per the grant guidelines. The attached consultant contract is with Economic 

Development Consultant Ricardo Noguera. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: I move to have the City Manager enter into a 

consultant contract with Ricardo Noguera for the completion of a feasibility study for 
the amount not to exceed $62,500.00.
LEGISLATIVE HISTORY: 

ACTION TAKEN 

MOTION AS PROPOSED MOTION AS AMENDED 

Motion made by: Motion made by: 

Second by: Second by: 

YES Vote NO Vote YES Vote NO 

Vote 

Hawkins Hawkins 

Ribail Ribail 

Harris Harris 

Burrell Burrell 

Green Green 

Passed/Failed Passed/Failed 

Ordinance/Resolution No.: Ordinance/Resolution No.: 

88



CONSULTANT AGREEMENT 

PROJECT TITLE AND     1

IDENTIFICATION NUMBER 

Consultant Services for CERB feasibility 

study 

WORK DESCRIPTION  . 2

CERB feasibility study as described in the 

scope of work and minimum planning  

requirements as outlined by CERB. 

CONSULTANT   3

Ricardo Noguera

CONSULTANT CONTACT NAME, 4

AND TELEPHONE NO. 

Ricardo Noguera,  

239-290-0977 

riconogo@aol.com 

FEDERAL I.D. NO. 5 BUDGET OR FUNDING SOURCE 6 

Grant  

PROJECT ADMINISTRATOR NAME, 7

ADDRESS AND TELEPHONE NO. 

Ricardo Noguera 

2683 Oak Rd., #238 

Walnut Creek, CA 94597 

MAXIMUM AMOUNT PAYABLE, IF 8

ANY 

$50,000 CERB Grant 

$12,500 City Match 

Total contract = $62,500 

COMPLETION DATE 9 

Within 2 years of contract execution. 

10 

 X      Reimbursements with monthly or 

quarterly reports 

Lump Sum 

  Cost Plus a Fixed Fee 

Schedule Rate/Time and Materials 

  Time and Materials/Not to Exceed

THIS AGREEMENT is entered into on _____________________, 2023 between the City 

{JZL2372136.DOC;1/00047.900000/ }

89



{JZL2372136.DOC;1/00047.900000/ }

of Carnation, Washington, hereinafter called "the CITY", and the above person, firm or 

organization, hereinafter called "the CONSULTANT". 

WHEREAS, the CITY desires to accomplish the above-referenced project; and 

WHEREAS, the CITY does not have sufficient staff or expertise to meet the required 

commitment and therefore deems it advisable and desirable to engage the assistance of a 

CONSULTANT to provide the necessary services for the project; and 

WHEREAS, the CONSULTANT has represented to the CITY that the CONSULTANT is in 

compliance with the professional registration statutes of the State of Washington, if applicable, and 

has signified a willingness to furnish consulting services to the CITY, now, therefore, 

IN CONSIDERATION OF the terms and conditions set forth below, or attached and 

incorporated and made a part hereof, the parties agree as follows: 

1. Retention of Consultant - Scope of Work.  The CITY hereby retains the 

CONSULTANT to provide professional services as defined in this agreement and as necessary to 

accomplish the scope of work attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by this reference 

as if set forth in full.  The CONSULTANT shall furnish all services, labor and related equipment 

necessary to conduct and complete the work, except as specifically noted otherwise in this 

agreement.  

2. Completion of Work.  The CONSULTANT shall not begin any work under the

terms of this agreement until authorized in writing by the CITY.  The CONSULTANT shall 

complete all work required by this agreement according to the schedule attached as Exhibit B and 

incorporated herein by this reference as if set forth in full.  A failure to complete the work according 

to the attached schedule, except where such failure is due to circumstances beyond the control of the 

CONSULTANT, shall be deemed a breach of this agreement.  The established completion time shall 

not be extended because of any delays attributable to the CONSULTANT, but may be extended by 

the CITY, in the event of a delay attributable to the CITY, or because of unavoidable delays caused 

by circumstances beyond the control of the CONSULTANT.  All such extensions shall be in writing 

and shall be executed by both parties.   

3. Payment.  The CONSULTANT shall be paid by the CITY for satisfactorily

completed work and services satisfactorily rendered under this agreement as provided in Exhibit C, 

attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference as if set forth in full.  Such payment shall 

be full compensation for work performed or services rendered and for all labor, materials, supplies, 

equipment, and incidentals necessary to complete the work specified in the Scope of Work attached. 

 The CONSULTANT shall be entitled to invoice the CITY no more frequently than once per month 

during the course of the completion of work and services by the CONSULTANT.  Invoices shall 

detail the work performed or services rendered, the time involved (if compensation is based on an 

hourly rate) and the amount to be paid.  The CITY shall pay all such invoices within 45 days of 

submittal, unless the CITY gives notice that the invoice is in dispute.  In no event shall the total of 

all invoices paid exceed the maximum amount payable set forth above, if any, and the 

90



{JZL2372136.DOC;1/00047.900000/ } 

CONSULTANT agrees to perform all services contemplated by this agreement for no more than 

said maximum amount. 

 

 4. Changes in Work.  The CONSULTANT shall promptly make such changes and 

revisions in the complete work provided by this agreement as may be necessary to correct errors 

made by the CONSULTANT and appearing therein when required to do so by the CITY.  The 

CONSULTANT shall make such corrective changes and revisions without additional compensation 

from the CITY.  Should the CITY find it desirable for its own purposes to have previously 

satisfactorily completed work or parts thereof changed or revised, the CONSULTANT shall make 

such revisions as directed by the CITY; this work shall be considered as Extra Work and will be paid 

for as provided in Section 5. 

 

 5. Extra Work.   

 

  A. The CITY may, at any time, by written order, make changes within the 

general scope of the agreement in the services to be performed.  If any such change causes an 

increase or decrease in the estimated cost of, or the time required for, performance of any part of the 

work or services under this agreement, whether or not changed by the order, or otherwise affects any 

other terms or conditions of the agreement, the CITY shall make an equitable adjustment in the (1) 

maximum amount payable; (2) delivery or completion schedule or both; and (3) other affected 

terms, and shall modify the agreement accordingly. 

 

  B. The CONSULTANT must submit any "proposal for adjustment" under this 

clause within 30 days from the date of receipt of the written order to make changes.  However, if the 

CITY decides that the facts justify it, the CITY may receive and act upon a proposal submitted 

before final payment of the agreement. 

 

  C. Failure to agree to any adjustment shall be a dispute as provided in Section 

18.  Notwithstanding any such dispute, the CONSULTANT shall proceed with the agreement as 

changed.   

 

  D. Notwithstanding any other provision in this section, the maximum amount 

payable for this agreement shall not be increased or considered to be increased except by specific 

written amendment of this agreement. 

 

 6. Ownership of Work Product.  Any and all documents, drawings, reports, and other 

work product produced by the CONSULTANT under this agreement shall become the property of 

the CITY upon payment of the CONSULTANT'S fees and charges therefore.  The CITY shall have 

the complete right to use and re-use such work product in any manner deemed appropriate by the 

CITY, provided, that use on any project other than that for which the work product is prepared shall 

be at the CITY'S risk unless such use is agreed to by the CONSULTANT.  Electronic versions of all 

work products shall be provided to the CITY in a format compatible with CITY software, except to 

the extent expressly waived in the attached exhibits. 

 

 7. Independent Contractor.  The CONSULTANT is an independent contractor for the 

91



{JZL2372136.DOC;1/00047.900000/ }

performance of services under this agreement.  The CITY shall not be liable for, nor obligated to pay 

to the CONSULTANT, or any employee of the CONSULTANT, sick leave, vacation pay, overtime 

or any other benefit applicable to employees of the CITY, nor to pay or deduct any social security, 

income tax, or other tax from the payments made to the CONSULTANT which may arise as an 

incident of the CONSULTANT performing services for the CITY.  The CITY shall not be obligated 

to pay industrial insurance for the services rendered by the CONSULTANT.   

CITY SHALL NOT PROVIDE ANY ADMINISTRATIVE, OUTREACH, 

MARKETING, TECHNOLOGICAL OR OTHER SUPPORT TO CONTRACTOR. CITY 

WILL NOT MAKE ANY PAYMENTS OUTSIDE OF THE CONTRACTED AMOUNT. 

8. Indemnity.  The CONSULTANT agrees to hold harmless, indemnify and defend the

CITY, its officers, agents, employees and volunteers from and against any and all claims, injuries, 

losses, suits, costs or liability, including attorneys’ fees (collectively, “Claims”), specifically 

including without limitation Claims resulting from injuries, sickness or death of employees of the 

CONSULTANT and/or damage to property, arising out of or otherwise resulting from the acts, 

errors, or omissions of the CONSULTANT, its officers, agents, subconsultants or employees, in 

connection with the services required by this agreement, provided, however, that: The 

CONSULTANT's obligation to indemnify, defend and hold harmless shall not extend to Claims 

caused by or resulting from the sole willful misconduct or sole negligence of the City.  

Should a court of competent jurisdiction determine that this agreement is subject to RCW 

4.24.115, then, in the event of liability for damages arising out of bodily injury to persons or 

damages to property caused by or resulting from the concurrent negligence of the 

CONSULTANT and the CITY, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers, the 

CONSULTANT’s liability, including the duty and cost to defend,  hereunder shall be only to the 

extent of the CONSULTANT’s negligence.  

It is further specifically and expressly understood that the indemnification provided herein 

constitutes the CONSULTANT’S waiver of immunity under Industrial Insurance, Title 51 RCW, 

solely for the purposes of this indemnification.  This waiver has been mutually negotiated by the 

parties.   

The CITY’s acceptance or approval of any services or work product under this agreement shall 

not be deemed to reduce, abridge, limit or otherwise alter the CONSULTANT’s obligations as 

set forth in this section, unless such intent is expressly stated in writing by the CITY.  

The provisions of this section shall survive the expiration or termination of this agreement. 

9. Insurance.  The CONSULTANT shall procure and maintain for the duration of
the agreement, insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damage to property which may 
arise from or in connection with the performance of the work hereunder by the CONSULTANT, 
its agents, representatives, or employees. 

92



{JZL2372136.DOC;1/00047.900000/ }

A. Minimum Scope of Insurance

CONSULTANT shall obtain insurance of the types described below: 

1. Automobile Liability insurance covering all owned, non-owned,
hired and leased vehicles. Coverage shall be written on Insurance Services Office (ISO) form CA 
00 01 or a substitute form providing equivalent liability coverage.  If necessary, the policy shall 
be endorsed to provide contractual liability coverage. 

2. Commercial General Liability insurance shall be at least as broad
as ISO occurrence form CG 00 01 and shall cover liability arising from premises, operations, 
stop-gap independent contractors and personal injury and advertising injury.  The CITY shall be 
named as an additional insured under the CONSULTANT’s Commercial General Liability 
insurance policy with respect to the work performed for the CITY using an additional insured 
endorsement at least as broad as ISO CG 20 26.   

3. Workers’ Compensation coverage as required by the Industrial
Insurance laws of the State of Washington. 

4. Professional Liability Professional liability insurance appropriate to

the CONSULTANT’s profession. 

B. Minimum Amounts of Insurance

CONSULTANT shall maintain the following insurance limits: 

1. Automobile Liability insurance with a minimum combined single
limit for bodily injury and property damage of $1,000,000 per accident. 

2. Commercial General Liability insurance shall be written with
limits no less than $1,000,000 each occurrence, $2,000,000 general aggregate.  

3. Professional Liability insurance shall be written with limits no less

than $1,000,000 per claim and $1,000,000 policy aggregate limit. 

The amounts listed above are the minimum deemed necessary by the CITY to protect the CITY'S 

interests in this matter.  The CITY has made no recommendation to the CONSULTANT as to the 

insurance necessary to protect the CONSULTANT'S interests and any decision by the 

CONSULTANT to carry or not carry insurance amounts in excess of the above is solely that of the 

CONSULTANT.   

C. Other Insurance Provisions.

All insurance shall be obtained from an insurance company authorized to do business in the State of 

Washington.  Excepting the professional liability insurance, the CITY will be named on all 

insurance as an additional insured.  The CONSULTANT shall submit a certificate of insurance to 

the CITY evidencing the coverages specified above, together with an additional insured 

93



{JZL2372136.DOC;1/00047.900000/ }

endorsement naming the CITY, within fifteen (15) days of the execution of this agreement and prior 

to the performance of any work specified hereunder.  The certificates of insurance shall cover the 

work specified in or performed under this agreement. The certificate and endorsement must be 

project and/or site specific.  

D. Cancellation.

The CONSULTANT shall provide the CITY with written notice of any policy cancellation within 

two business days of its receipt of such notice.  No cancellation, reduction or modification of the 

foregoing policies shall be effective without thirty (30) days prior written notice to the CITY. 

The CONSULTANT’s insurance coverage shall be primary insurance as respect the City.  Any 

insurance, self-insurance, or insurance pool coverage maintained by the CITY shall be excess of 

the CONSULTANT’s insurance and shall not contribute with it. 

E. Acceptability of Insurers.

Insurance is to be placed with insurers with a current A.M. Best rating of not less than A:VII. 

F. No Limitation.

The CONSULTANT’s maintenance of insurance as required by this agreement shall not be 

construed to limit the liability of the CONSULTANT to the coverage provided by such insurance, or 

otherwise limit the CITY’S recourse to any remedy available at law or equity.   

G. Failure to Maintain Insurance.

Failure on the part of the CONSULTANT to maintain the insurance as required shall constitute a 

material breach of contract, upon which the CITY may, after giving five business days notice to 

the CONSULTANT to correct the breach, immediately terminate this agreement or, at its 

discretion, procure or renew such insurance and pay any and all premiums in connection 

therewith, with any sums so expended to be repaid to the CITY on demand, or at the sole 

discretion of the CITY, offset against funds due the CONSULTANT from the CITY. 

H. City Full Availability of Consultant Limits.

If the CONSULTANT maintains higher insurance limits than the minimums shown above, the 

CITY shall be insured for the full available limits of Commercial General and Excess or 

Umbrella liability maintained by the CONSULTANT, irrespective of whether such limits 

maintained by the CONSULTANT are greater than those required by this agreement or whether 

any certificate of insurance furnished to the CITY evidences limits of liability lower than those 

maintained by the CONSULTANT. 

10. Records Retention and Disclosure.  The CONSULTANT shall keep all records

94



{JZL2372136.DOC;1/00047.900000/ }

related to this agreement for a period of three years following completion of the work for which the 

CONSULTANT is retained.  The CONSULTANT shall permit any authorized representative of the 

CITY, and any person authorized by the CITY for audit purposes, to inspect such records at all 

reasonable times during regular business hours of the CONSULTANT.  Upon request, the 

CONSULTANT will provide the CITY with reproducible copies of any such records. The copies 

will be provided without cost if required to substantiate any billing of the CONSULTANT, but the 

CONSULTANT may charge the CITY for copies requested for any other purpose. The 

CONSULTANT shall also provide a complete electronic copy of all reports, plans, and 

specifications upon completion of the work or upon request of the CITY. 

Separate from and additional to the foregoing, the CONSULTANT shall fully cooperate with 

and assist the CITY with respect to any request for public records received by the CITY and 

related to any public records generated, produced, created and/or possessed by the 

CONSULTANT and related to the services performed under this agreement.  Upon written 

demand by the CITY, the CONSULTANT shall furnish the CITY with full and complete copies 

of any such records within five business days.     

        The CONSULTANT’s failure to timely provide such records upon demand shall be deemed a 

material breach of this agreement.  To the extent that the CITY incurs any monetary penalties, 

attorneys’ fees, and/or any other expenses as a result of such breach, the CONSULTANT shall 

fully indemnify and hold harmless the CITY as set forth in Section 8.   

For purposes of this section, the term “public records” shall have the same meaning as defined 

by Chapter 42.17 RCW and Chapter 42.56 RCW, as said chapters have been construed by 

Washington courts.    

The provisions of this section shall survive the expiration or termination of this agreement.  

11. Notices.  All notices required to be given by either party to the other under this

agreement shall be in writing and shall be given in person or by mail to the addresses set forth in the 

box for the same appearing at the outset of this agreement.  Notice by mail shall be deemed given as 

of the date the same is deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid, addressed as provided in 

this paragraph. 

12. Project Administrator.  The Project Administrator shall be responsible for 

coordinating the work of the CONSULTANT, for providing any necessary information for and 

direction of the CONSULTANT's work in order to ensure that it generally meets the requirements of 

this agreement, and for reviewing, monitoring and approving the general quality and quantity of 

such work.  The CONSULTANT shall report to and take any necessary direction from the Project 

Administrator.  Provided, that nothing in this section shall be construed as altering the 

CONSULTANT’S duty of care or otherwise limiting, abridging, waiving or reducing the 

CONSULTANT’S obligations under this agreement.     

13. Conflict Amongst Main Agreement and Attachments.  In case of conflict between

the Exhibits to this agreement and the portions of this agreement preceding the signature lines 

95



{JZL2372136.DOC;1/00047.900000/ }

(Sections 1-22), the terms of Sections 1-22 shall prevail.  Any limitations on liability and 

indemnification expressed in the attached exhibits beyond those specified in Sections 8 and 9 (prior 

to signature line) shall be null and void. 

14. Termination.  The CITY reserves the right to terminate this agreement at any time

upon ten (10) days written notice to the CONSULTANT.  Any such notice shall be given to the 

address specified in Box 3 on page 1.  In the event that this agreement is terminated by the CITY 

other than for fault on the part of the CONSULTANT, a final payment shall be made to the 

CONSULTANT for all services satisfactorily performed.  No payment shall be made for any work 

completed after ten (10) days following receipt by the CONSULTANT of the notice to terminate.  In 

the event that services of the CONSULTANT are terminated by the CITY for fault on part of the 

CONSULTANT, the amount to be paid shall be determined by the CITY with consideration given 

to the actual cost incurred by the CONSULTANT in performing the work to the date of termination, 

the amount of work originally required which would satisfactorily complete it to date of termination, 

whether that work is in a form or type which is usable to the CITY at the time of termination, the 

cost of the CITY of employing another firm to complete the work required, and the time which may 

be required to do so. 

15. Non-Discrimination.  The CONSULTANT agrees not to discriminate against any

customer, employee or applicant for employment, subcontractor, supplier or materialman, because 

of race, color, creed, religion, national origin, marital status, sex, sexual orientation, age or handicap, 

except for a bona fide occupational qualification.  The CONSULTANT understands that if it violates 

this provision, this agreement may be terminated by the CITY and that the CONSULTANT may be 

barred from performing any services for the CITY now or in the future. 

16. Subcontracting or Assignment.  The CONSULTANT may not assign or subcontract

any portion of the services to be provided under this agreement without the express written consent 

of the CITY.  Any subconsultants approved by the CITY at the outset of this agreement are named 

on Exhibit D attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference as if set forth in full. 

17. Non-Waiver.  Payment for any part of the work or services by the CITY shall not

constitute a waiver by the CITY of any remedies of any type it may have against the 

CONSULTANT for any breach of the agreement by the CONSULTANT, or for failure of the 

CONSULTANT to perform work required of it under the agreement by the CITY.  Waiver of any 

right or entitlement under this agreement by the CITY shall not constitute waiver of any other right 

or entitlement. 

18. Resolution of Disputes; Governing Law and Venue.  This agreement shall be

governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Washington.  If any dispute 

arises out of or in connection with this agreement, including any question regarding its existence, 

enforceability, interpretation, or validity, the parties will, if practicable, meet and confer in good 

faith for a period of fourteen (14) days to attempt to resolve such dispute without an adversary 

proceeding.  If at the end of the fourteen (14) day period such attempt at resolution is unsuccessful, 

the parties may resort to litigation.  The exclusive venue for any litigation arising out this agreement 

shall be the King County Superior Court.   The substantially prevailing party in any such litigation 

shall be entitled to an award of its reasonable attorneys’ fees.   

19. Taxes.  The CONSULTANT will be solely responsible for the payment of any and

all applicable taxes related to the services provided under this agreement and if such taxes are 

required to be passed through to the CITY by law, the same shall be duly itemized on any billings 

96



{JZL2372136.DOC;1/00047.900000/ }

submitted to the CITY by the CONSULTANT. 

20. Entire Agreement.  This agreement represents the entire integrated agreement

between the CITY and the CONSULTANT, superseding all prior negotiations, representations or 

agreements, written or oral.  This agreement may be modified, amended, or added to, only by written 

instrument properly signed by both parties hereto.  

21. Legal Compliance.  In the performance of work under this agreement, the

CONSULTANT shall comply with all federal, state and municipal laws, ordinances, rules and 

regulations that are applicable to the CONSULTANT’s business, equipment, and personnel 

engaged in operations covered by this agreement or accruing out of the performance of such 

operations. 

22. Risk of Loss.  The CONSULTANT shall be solely responsible for the safety of its

employees, agents and subcontractors in the performance of the work hereunder and shall take 

all protections reasonably necessary for that purpose.  All work shall be done at the 

CONSULTANT's own risk, and the CONSULTANT shall be solely responsible for any loss of 

or damage to materials, tools, or other articles used or held for use in connection with the work. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this agreement as of the day and 

year first above written.   

CONSULTANT: CITY OF CARNATION: 

Ana Cortez, City Manager 

By: Ricardo Noguera 

Title: ATTEST/AUTHENTICATED: 

 Lora Wilmes, City Clerk 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF WORK 

Planning Study Minimum Requirements 

ALL DELIVERABLES TO BE IN FINAL PRESENTATION FORMAT. 

97



{JZL2372136.DOC;1/00047.900000/ }

The Planning Study must contain the following minimum requirements: 

1. A product market analysis linked to economic development.
2. A market strategy containing action elements linked to timelines.
3. Identification of targeted industries.
4. Identification of the group responsible for implementing the market strategy. Describe

the group’s capacity to complete the responsibility.
5. The site’s appropriateness by addressing, at minimum, appropriate zoning, affect to the

state or local transportation system, environmental restrictions, cultural resource
review, and the site’s overall adequacy to support the anticipated development upon
project completion.

6. A location analysis of other adequately served commercial land.
7. Total funding for the public facilities improvements is secured or will be secured within a

given time frame.
8. An analysis of how the project will assist local economic diversification efforts.
9. Indicate the specific issues that will be addressed.
10. List one or more economic outcomes that you expect from the proposed CERB project.
11. Describe the specific, quantifiable measures of the outcome(s) that will indicate success.

Describe in measurable terms what you expect to be able to show as progress toward
the outcome for each year before the whole outcome has been achieved.

12. Describe what data you will collect to determine whether the outcome is being
achieved.

13. Describe the data collection procedure including when data will be collected, from
whom and by whom.

14. The estimated median hourly wage of the jobs created when development occurs.
15. If the project is determined to be feasible, the following information must be provided

within the final report:
A. Total estimated jobs created (in FTEs).
B. Describe benefits offered to employees.
C. Describe the median hourly wage of the new jobs in relation to the median

hourly county wage.
D. The county three-year unemployment rate in relation to the state rate.
E. County population change in the last five years.
F. The estimated jobs created represent what percentage of the county’s labor

force.
G. The estimated jobs created represent what percentage of the county’s

unemployed workers.
H. Estimated new annual state and local revenue generated by the private business.
I. Estimated private investment generated by project.

The project’s scope of work is comprised of the following activities (all activities 
will be completed no later than 2 years from contract execution): 

Project Description: 

98



{JZL2372136.DOC;1/00047.900000/ }

The City of Carnation will lead efforts to promote entrepreneurship in the  
Snoqualmie Valley by exploring the potential to establish a Small Business  
Incubator creating opportunities for start-ups throughout the valley to launch  
their businesses. The incubator will serve as a base where valley-based  
entrepreneurs can launch their businesses with on-site technical assistance  
offered as well as the ability to network with other start-ups. Ultimately, the goal 
is to create a foundation where start-ups can be launched and small businesses  
can materialize throughout the valley creating jobs and providing services to  
area residents. 

Project Scope of Work. 
The scope will consist of the following: 

A. Business Assessment. A business assessment or survey of entrepreneurs throughout
the Snoqualmie Valley will be conducted over a 2-4 month period.

B. Outreach. The consultant will utilize a variety of marketing tools to promote the survey
such as social media, newspapers, newsletters, chamber of commerce, etc. to promote
the business assessment.

C. Assessment Results. The results of the assessment will be tallied up and written into a
Business Assessment Report with recommendations. This will in essence serve as the
Planning Study.

D. Outreach to Select Respondents. Based on the review of the assessment survey, one-
on-one outreach and individual meetings will be conducted with select respondents
which appear to be a good fit for the incubator to further evaluate whether they are
good candidates for the incubator.

E. Location of Incubator. Identify appropriate locations to house the incubator in
Carnation or the Snoqualmie Valley including the appropriate size from 2,000 to 8,000
square feet.

F. Space Allocation. Based on the follow-up of one-on-one assessments with select
businesses, determine how much space and layout required to support the prospective
incubator tenants.

G. Preliminary Start-Up Costs. Based on a review of rents in the area, operational costs for
the incubator, and initial build-out of space, prepare a start-up budget for the
establishment of the incubator.

Contractor will submit the following reports quarterly: 

Quarterly Project Reports, due four times annually until completion of the CERB funded public 
project. Beginning within six (6) months of contract execution, Quarterly Project Reports shall 
be due on:  
1. January 15,
2. April 15,
3. July 15, and
4. October 15

99



{JZL2372136.DOC;1/00047.900000/ }

The Contractor shall also include in the quarterly report any problems, delays, or adverse 
conditions which will materially affect the ability to meet project objectives, time schedules, 
or work units by the established time period. This disclosure shall be accompanied by a 
statement of the action taken or contemplated and any Board assistance needed to resolve 
the situation. 

Project Completion Report upon completion of the CERB funded public project, and 

Other reports the Board may require and Contractor would provide:  
Upon final request for reimbursement, the Contractor shall submit a Certified Project 
Completion Report to the Board, signed by the Contractor's responsible party, which shall 
include, but not be limited to, an accounting of all expenditures, a description of work 
accomplished, further refinement of private sector permanent employment impacts, etc. in a 
format to be provided by the Board.  
After submission of the Project Completion Report, the Contractor shall continue, for up to five 
years or as may be required by the Board, to provide updates on the economic impact of the 
project. The updates shall be in a format acceptable to the Board and describe, but not be 
limited to:  
1. Number and types of businesses assisted by the project
2. Private sector employment and private investment activity resulting from the project

EXHIBIT B 
COMPLETION SCHEDULE 

The Consultant will be hired for up to a 24 month period 

EXHIBIT C 

FEE SCHEDULE 

Contractor shall submit monthly or quarterly invoices and quarterly reports as described in the 

100



{JZL2372136.DOC;1/00047.900000/ }

contract. Invoices shall not exceed contract amount. 

101



{JZL2372136.DOC;1/00047.900000/ } 

EXHIBIT D 

 

SUBCONSULTANT LIST 

 

 

 
 
 

102



DATE:  May 2nd, 2023 
TIME:   6:00 PM 

JOIN ONLINE VIA ZOOM:  http://bit.ly/3BbmBBu 

Meeting ID:  983 3856 5355 
Passcode:    970731 
Dial by location:  (253) 215 - 8782 

For inquiries and/or assistance regarding how to use the City’s online meeting format 
please email clerk@carnationwa.gov, or call (425) 333-4192. 

1. CALL TO ORDER: Mayor Jim Ribail 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Deputy Mayor Tim Harris 

3. ROLL CALL: City Clerk Lora Wilmes 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA: Mayor and Council  

5. EXECUTIVE SESSION:

a) Sale of Property

6. CONSENT AGENDA:

a) Approval of Minutes for the following date(s):

i. Regular Session: April 18th, 2023

b) Approval of Claims in the following amount(s):

i. $

c) Approval of Payroll for the following pay period(s):

i. March 20th, 2023 - April 2nd, 2023

ii. April 3rd, 2023 - April 16th, 2023

7. COUNCIL REPORTS AND REQUESTS

8. STAFF REPORTS:

CARNATION CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
Regular Meeting  

Mayor Jim Ribail, Deputy Mayor Tim Harris, Ryan Burrell, Dustin Green, Adair Hawkins 

103

http://bit.ly/3BbmBBu


May 2nd, 2023 

– 2 –

a) Community Economic Development Department Report - CED Principal

Rhonda Ender

i. HOUSING ACTION PLAN

b) Capital Improvement Projects / Administrative Services Department Report -

Administrative Services Manager Lora Wilmes

c) City Manager’s Office Report - City Manager Ana Cortez

9. PUBLIC HEARING

a) Vehicles as Dwelling Unit

10. PUBLIC COMMENT & REQUESTS: Public comment on meeting items or

other issues of note or concern. Comments may be submitted in advance by

writing or e-mailing clerk@carnationwa.gov, or made in person, or by telephone

or computer connection at the time of the meeting. Individual comments shall

be limited to three minutes. Group comments shall be limited to five minutes.

11. PRESENTATIONS:

a) Tolt Siren Update - Sheila Strehle, Seattle Public Utilities

b) Sno-Valley Pride – Gregory Jamiel

12. AGENDA BILLS:

a) AB23-XX – Zoning Adoption

b) AB23-48 2022 Budget Interfund Transfers – Amendment

13. DISCUSSION ITEMS:

14. FUTURE AGENDAS:

a) Tentative agenda for the meeting of May 16th, 2023

b) Tentative agenda for the meeting of June 6th, 2023

15. ADJOURNMENT: Mayor Jim Ribail

104

mailto:clerk@carnationwa.gov


DATE:  May 16th, 2023 
TIME:   6:00 PM  

JOIN ONLINE VIA ZOOM:  https://bit.ly/3xlFY9B 

Meeting ID:  976 1525 3648  
Passcode:  894903  
Dial by Location:  (253) 215 - 8782 

For inquiries and/or assistance regarding how to use the City’s online meeting format 
please email clerk@carnationwa.gov, or call (425) 333-4192. 

1. CALL TO ORDER: Mayor Jim Ribail 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Councilmember Adair Hawkins 

3. ROLL CALL: City Clerk Lora Wilmes 

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA: Mayor and Council  

5. EXECUTIVE SESSION:

6. CONSENT AGENDA:

a) Approval of Minutes for the following date(s):

i. Regular Session: May 2nd, 2023

b) Approval of Claims in the following amount(s):

i. $

7. COUNCIL REPORTS AND REQUESTS

8. STAFF REPORTS:

a) Community Economic Development Department Report - CED Principal

Rhonda Ender

b) Capital Improvement Projects / Administrative Services Department Report -

Administrative Services Manager Lora Wilmes

c) City Manager’s Office Report - City Manager Ana Cortez

CARNATION CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
Regular Meeting  

Mayor Jim Ribail, Deputy Mayor Tim Harris, Ryan Burrell, Dustin Green, Adair Hawkins 

105

https://bit.ly/3xlFY9B


May 16th, 2023 

– 2 –

9. PUBLIC COMMENT & REQUESTS: Public comment on meeting items or

other issues of note or concern. Comments may be submitted in advance by

writing or e-mailing clerk@carnationwa.gov, or made in person, or by telephone

or computer connection at the time of the meeting. Individual comments shall

be limited to three minutes. Group comments shall be limited to five minutes.

10. PRESENTATIONS:

11. AGENDA BILLS:

a) AB23-XX

12. DISCUSSION ITEMS:

13. FUTURE AGENDAS:

a) Tentative agenda for the meeting of June 6th, 2023

b) Tentative agenda for the meeting of June 20th, 2023

14. ADJOURNMENT: Mayor Jim Ribail

106

mailto:clerk@carnationwa.gov

	ce08493a-2c0a-41fb-ae5f-484841179405.pdf
	MIN 04-04-23
	CFM BOARD
	DEAR MAYOR RIBAIL,
	SPECIALUSE AGREEMENT
	Code




